
Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 1 

ARIZONA STATE LEGISLATURE 
 

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting 
June 28, 2018 

9:00 A.M., House Hearing Room 3 
 
 
Members Present: 
Senator Steve Yarbrough, Vice-Chairman Representative Javan Mesnard, Chairman 
Senator Sylvia Allen Representative Charlene R. Fernandez 
Senator Sean Bowie Representative Ken Clark 
Senator Judy Burges Representative Vince Leach 
Senator Warren Petersen Representative David Livingston 
Senator Martin Quezada Representative Kelly Townsend 
Senator Steve Smith  
  

 
Members Excused: 
Representative Michelle Ugenti-Rita  

 
 
Staff: 
Mike Braun, Executive Director, Legislative Council 
Ken Behringer, General Counsel, Legislative Council 
Patricia Probst, Assistant Director, Legislative Council 
Nadine Sapien, Chief Editor, Legislative Council 
Michele Hanigsberg, Council Attorney, Legislative Council 
Marge Ray, Council Attorney, Legislative Council 
Todd Bayne, Council Attorney, Legislative Council 

 
 
Chairman Mesnard called the meeting to order at 9:04 a.m. and attendance was noted. 
 
Mike Braun, Executive Director, Legislative Council, distributed and explained a 
sample publicity pamphlet (Attachment A). Mr. Braun explained the statutory 
requirements for information included in publicity pamphlets for ballot propositions and 
the layout of the information. Mr. Braun further explained that the reason the Committee 
is meeting is to adopt an impartial analysis of each ballot initiative. Mr. Braun answered 
questions posed by the Committee.  
 
Adoption of Ballot Analysis Pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes, Section 19-124:  
HCR2032 (2018) public retirement systems 
 
Michele Hanigsberg, Council Attorney, Legislative Council, distributed and explained 
the "Legislative Council Staff Draft analysis of HCR 2032 (2018)" (Attachment B). After 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 2 

reviewing the Analysis of HCR2032 it appears to comply with Section 19-124 in that it's 
an accurate and fair description of the measure.  

 
Senator Yarbrough moved the ADOPTION of the draft analysis 
prepared by the staff of the Legislative Council (Attachment B). The 
motion CARRIED with a roll call vote of 12-0-2 (Attachment 1). 

 
Representative Livingston explained his vote. 
 
Adoption of Ballot Analysis Pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes, Section 19-124:  
HCR2007 (2018) clean elections; unlawful contributions; rulemaking 
 
Mike Braun, Executive Director, Legislative Council, distributed and explained the 
"Legislative Council Staff Draft analysis of HCR 2007 (2018)" (Attachment C). We do 
believe that it comports with the requirements of Title 19 in terms of it being a concise 
and impartial analysis of the measure. Mr. Braun answered questions posed by the 
Committee. 
 
Representative Clark questioned the process of amendments and testimony from the 
public. 
 
Representative Mesnard suggested having discussion on proposed amendments and 
then calling on the public for testimony. 
 
Representative Clark distributed and explained Amendment #1 (Attachment D) and 
Amendment #2 (Attachment E). 
 
Mr. Braun responded to the two amendments. 
 
The Committee discussed the need for the two amendments. 
 
Mr. Braun answered questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Rivko Knox, League of Women Voters of Arizona, testified that the original draft 
analysis is not clear enough and is in support of the two Clark amendments. 
 
Joel Edman, Arizona Advocacy Network, testified regarding the need for more clarity 
in the original draft analysis and keeping the Commission non-partisan. 
 
Mr. Braun distributed and explained an amended "Legislative Council Staff Draft analysis 
of HCR 2007 (2018)" (Attachment F). 
 
The Committee discussed the amended staff draft analysis (Attachment F). 
 

Senator Yarbrough moved the ADOPTION of Draft Analysis prepared 
by the staff of the Legislative Council (Attachment C). I move as an 
amendment the new Draft (Attachment F). The motion CARRIED with 
a roll call vote of 11-2-1 (Attachment 2). 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 3 

Representatives Fernandez, Livingston, Clark and Mesnard explained their votes. 
 
Adoption of Ballot Analysis Pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes, Section 19-124:  
R-02-2018 empowerment scholarships; expansion; phase-in 
 
Mike Braun, Executive Director, Legislative Council, distributed and explained the 
"Legislative Council Staff Draft analysis of R-02-2018" (Attachment G). We believe it is 
as concise as it can be and still make it fair.  
 
Senator Quezada distributed and explained the Quezada amendment #1 (Attachment H). 
He reiterated that his goal is to be as clear and concise as possible. Senator Quezada 
answered questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #1 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered procedure questions. 
 
Representative Mesnard explained that the Committee would discuss the six Quezada 
amendments and then vote on them separately. 
 
Senator Quezada explained the Quezada amendment #2 (Attachment H) to the 
Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #2 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Senator Quezada explained the Quezada amendment #3 (Attachment H) to the 
Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #3 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Senator Quezada explained the Quezada amendment #4 (Attachment H) to the 
Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #4 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee. 
 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 4 

Senator Quezada explained the Quezada amendment #5 (Attachment H) to the 
Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #5 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Senator Quezada explained the Quezada amendment #6 (Attachment H) to the 
Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Quezada amendment #6 (Attachment H) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Senator Yarbrough distributed and explained the Yarbrough amendment (Attachment I) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G) and answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the Yarbrough amendment (Attachment I) to the Legislative 
Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee and clarified what 
changes the Committee wanted made to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of  
R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
The Committee further discussed the Quezada amendment #4 (Attachment H) and the 
Quezada amendment #6 (Attachment H) to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of 
R-02-2018 (Attachment G). 
 
Mr. Braun answered additional questions posed by the Committee. 
 

Senator Quezada moved the Quezada #1 amendment (Attachment H) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 
(Attachment G). The motion FAILED by voice vote. 
 
Senator Quezada moved the Quezada #2 amendment (Attachment H) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 
(Attachment G). The motion FAILED by voice vote. 
 
Senator Quezada moved the Quezada #3 amendment (Attachment H) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 
(Attachment G). The motion FAILED by voice vote. 
 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 5 

Senator Quezada moved the Quezada #6 amendment (Attachment H) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 
(Attachment G) amended.  
 

Representative Mesnard read part of what the amendment would read. Mr. Braun clarified 
the changes made if the Quezada #6 amendment (Attachment H) is adopted. 
 

Senator Quezada said so moved. The motion CARRIED by voice vote. 
 
The Committee further discussed the Quezada #4 and #5 amendments (Attachment H). 
 
Mr. Braun answered questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Representative Fernandez requested a roll call vote be done when the Quezada 
amendment #5 has been moved. 
 

Senator Quezada moved the Quezada #5 amendment (Attachment H) 
to the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of R-02-2018 
(Attachment G). The motion FAILED with a roll call vote of 4-8-2 
(Attachment 3). 

 
Senator Smith and Representative Mesnard explained their votes. 
 

Senator Quezada moved part of the Quezada #4 amendment that says 
"line 30, strike "foster students" insert "STUDENTS IN FOSTER CARE" 
(Attachment H). The motion CARRIED by voice vote. 
 
Senator Quezada moved the Quezada proposed amendment #4, the 
second half of that, which would be "line 33, striking ", except that the 
funding" and inserting ". A STUDENT PREVIOUSLY ATTENDING A 
CHARTER SCHOOL WOULD RECEIVE A HIGHER ESA AMOUNT THAN 
A STUDENT PREVIOUSLY ATTENDING A DISTRICT SCHOOL, 
EXCEPT THAT THE FUNDING" (Attachment H). The motion FAILED by 
voice vote. 
 
Senator Yarbrough moved Yarbrough amendment (Attachment I) be 
adopted with the amendment inserting "however" before "A".  
 

Representative Fernandez questioned the process for public testimony. Representative 
Mesnard responded to the question. 
 

Representative Mesnard called for a vote on Senator Yarbrough's 
motion. The motion CARRIED by voice vote. 

 
Beth Lewis, Chair, Save Our Schools Campaign, explained a change she would like 
made to the Draft Analysis, line four, replace the word "used" with "redirect state tax 
dollars to an" and replace "monies to obtain" with the word "for".  
 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 6 

Dawn Thacker, Save Our Schools Campaign, explained a change she would like made 
to the Draft Analysis, in lines two and three, strike the word "and" and also strike "to 
provide educational options for qualified Arizona students". 
 
Ms. Thacker stated that she would like the Draft Analysis to read "An Empowerment 
Scholarship Account (ESA) is an account administered by the Arizona Department of 
Education that is funding by state tax dollars. A parent may opt to remove a student from 
the public school system (district and charter schools) to obtain alternative educational 
services for the student". Ms. Thacker explained her reasoning for these changes and 
answered questions posed by the Committee. 
 
Mr. Braun attempted to clarify the changes being requested by the Save Our Schools 
Campaign. 
 
The Committee discussed the proposed changes to the Draft Analysis. 
 
Ms. Lewis made comments regarding the proposed changes to the Draft Analysis. 
 

Representative Mesnard moved to amend the Draft Analysis 
(Attachment G) on line 4, after "use" insert "monies in an" after ESA 
strike "monies".  
 

Ms. Lewis suggested another change which was held until after a vote on the 
motion on the table. 
 
Mr. Livingston requested clarification on the motion. 

 
Representative Mesnard stated how the amended part of the sentence 
starting on line three would read if the amendment is adopted:  A 
parent may opt to remove a student from the public school system 
(district and charter schools) and use monies in an ESA to obtain 
alternative educational services for the student including… The 
motion CARRIED by voice vote. 

 
Ms. Lewis suggested another change to the Draft Analysis removing "including foster 
students". 
 
Representative Mesnard stated her point is so noted. 
 
Ms. Thacker explained a requested amendment to the Draft Analysis on page one, line 
41, after "ESAs" strike ":" insert "."; strike page two.  
 
The Committee discussed Ms. Thacker's requested amendment. 
 
Catherine Sigmon, Treasurer, Save Our Schools Campaign, testified in opposition to 
the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis. 
 
Mr. Braun clarified existing laws regarding Empowerment Scholarship Accounts. 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 7 

David Schapira, representing himself, testified in opposition to the Legislative Staff 
Draft Analysis as originally distributed and in support of adding the word "redirect" on line 
four instead of the word "use". Mr. Schapira suggested changing the wording from "low 
income students" to "students from low income households". Mr. Shapira answered 
questions posed by the Committee. 
 
The Committee discussed the suggestions from Mr. Schapira. 
 
Melinda Iyer, Save Our Schools Arizona, suggested proposed changes to the Draft 
Analysis. 
 
The Committee discussed changes to the Draft Analysis. 
 
Representative Clark suggested an amendment to the Draft Analysis. 
 

Representative Clark moved an amendment to the Draft Analysis to 
add as paragraph seven "The Department of Education policies 
regarding eligible expenses may not restrict the types or amount of 
curriculum choices made by parents or students." Representative 
Clark requested a roll call vote.  
 

Representatives Mesnard and Livingston stated their opposition to the Clark amendment. 
 
Representative Mesnard called for a vote on the Clark amendment to 
the Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis (Attachment G). The 
motion FAILED with a roll call vote of 4-7-3 (Attachment 4). 

 
Staff distributed a copy of the amended Legislative Council Staff Draft Analysis of 
R-02-2018 (Attachment J) and the Committee discussed the changes. 
 

Senator Yarbrough moved that the amended Legislative Council Staff 
Draft Analysis for R-02-2018 (Attachment J) be ADOPTED. The motion 
CARRIED with a roll call vote of 8-4-2 (Attachment 5). 

 
Senators Quezada and Yarbrough explained their votes. 
Representatives Clark, Fernandez, Leach, Townsend and Mesnard explained their votes. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
 
Mike Braun, Executive Director, Legislative Council, explained the term of Executive 
Director of Legislative Council and that the Committee would need to appoint the 
Executive Director for the next term.  
 

Senator Yarbrough moved the appointment of Michael Braun as 
Executive Director of Arizona Legislative Council. The motion 
CARRIED with a roll call vote of 12-0-2 (Attachment 6).  

 



Legislative Council 
June 28, 2018 

Page 8 

Attached are forms noting the individuals who submitted a Speaker slip on the agenda 
items (Attachment K). 
 
Attached is a list noting the individuals who registered their position on the agenda items 
(Attachment L). 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 1:26 p.m. 
 
 Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 
 Shelley Ponce 
 Committee Secretary 
 
(Audio recordings and attachments are on file in the Secretary of the Senate’s Office/Resource Center, 
Room 115. Audio archives are available at http://www.azleg.gov)  
 



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.7
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 5.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


